THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Feb 06 2024

06:41PM EST

Transaction ID 71969699

CHRISTINA GADDY

Respondent Below, Petitioner

v. Case No.: 23-658

WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA

Petitioner Below, Respondent

BRIEF ON BEHALF OF PETITIONER CHRISTINA GADDY

MATTHEW JIVIDEN Counsel for Christina Gaddy Legal Aid of West Virginia WVSB No.: 12113 301 W. Burke St, Ste. B Martinsburg, WV 25401 304.263.8871x2817 mjividen@lawv.net

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR ONE: The Intermediate Court's decision commits an initial error in suggesting that administrative hearing officers possess equitable powers, and then affording misplaced deference based on that error.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR TWO: The ICA's misplaced deference to the ALJ creates errors by replacing the substance of the ALJ's findings only with the legal conclusions of the ALJ without consideration of the record as a whole. The result subverts substantial justice and the actual observations of our ALJ.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR THREE: Intermediate Court erred in determining equitable tolling of the doctor's note deadline was not appropriate.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR FOUR: The ICA erred in failing to apply the 'plain error' doctrine as the standard of review when WorkForce West Virginia failed to participate in the Circuit Court appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christina Gaddy worked at American Public University [APU] as a Senior Financial Aid Advisor from September 16, 2013 to March 22, 2021. Her job involved fielding calls about student loans. [Appx 6]. Ms. Gaddy suffers from severe anxiety predating the COVID-19 pandemic.

At the outset of the COVID pandemic, Ms. Gaddy transitioned to remote work. Working without the support and infrastructure of an office made her job more difficult and increased her per-existing anxiety. [Appx 6]. During this time Ms. Gaddy's work also significantly increased in volume and intensity. [Appx 6] During the pandemic many people returned to school after being laid off, and many more people were attempting to utilize student loans in lieu of lost wages because of the pandemic. [Appx 6]. Over time, this began to overwhelm Ms. Gaddy and exacerbate her anxieties.

Throughout 2020 Ms. Gaddy sought further medical treatment for her increasing anxiety. She was prescribed additional medication which made it hard to perform her detail-oriented job.

[Appx 6]. Her employer was aware of Ms. Gaddy's condition and was generally supportive. Ms. Gaddy got through 2020 utilizing various leave and making use of accommodations from her employer – including use of FMLA. [Appx 48].

The record contains a Certification of Health Care Provider for Employee Serious Health Condition form pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act [FMLA] made on February 10, 2021 (approximately a month-and-a-half before Ms. Gaddy separated from work). [Appx. pp. 8 – 11]. Dr. Rauf Cheema, M.D., a psychiatrist in Winchester, Virginia, was the health care provider who completed this form on behalf of the Respondent. Dr. Cheema indicated that Ms. Gaddy had, "a chronic serious health condition" that "continues over an extended period of time" and "may cause episodic incapacity." [Appx 9]. The form indicated that Dr. Cheema had discussed the necessary functions of Ms. Gaddy's job, and contained Dr. Cheema's medical opinion that Ms. Gaddy was unable to fulfill at least one of the necessary functions of her job due to anxiety.

This form allowed Ms. Gaddy to continue to utilize FMLA time to mitigate her anxiety. Dr. Cheema requested intermittent leave at a rate of three times a week and one day per episode in this document for the Respondent. [Appx 10].

In February of 2021, Ms. Gaddy and three of her children contracted COVID-19. She was still employed at APU, but received unemployment compensation for the week of February 26th, 2021, continuing until she and the children were no longer COVID positive. Prior to this, her babysitter had also been diagnosed with COVID, which eliminated the sporadic childcare Ms. Gaddy previously had. Over the course of the pandemic, though especially during the time preceding her separation from work, Ms. Gaddy was drawing down her limited FMLA for *both* childcare needs and for her own mental health reasons. Ms. Gaddy had three school-aged

children who were all in remote learning and one three-year-old child that that would have been in daycare during the relevant time. [Appx 33-37; 47].

On or around March 22, 2021, Ms. Gaddy was scheduled to return to work, but her mental state had deteriorated to the point that she was unable to do so. She'd also run out of leave – including FMLA – as she had drawn it down to cover childcare and for her own mental health reasons. [Appx 18]. Ms. Gaddy separated from work. She characterizes the separation in her appeal of the Deputy decision, writing that she "loved" her job and that leaving was "the hardest decision I have had to make, which was truly out of my control." [Appx 6]

March 22, 2021 remains an important date in this case because, according to our statute, this begins Ms. Gaddy's 30-day window to submit a physician's note to WorkForce in order to qualify for *consideration* of a non-disqualifying medical separation from work under the unemployment compensation statute. See W. Va. Code § 21A-6-3(1).

The same day, Ms. Gaddy was informed by an automatically generated notice on the Workforce website of a non-specific issue with her claim which would cause her benefits to be put on hold. Thus started Ms. Gaddy's long process of trying to contact Workforce to remedy the problem.

Due to the pandemic, all local Workforce offices were closed to the public. Ms. Gaddy, like tens-of-thousands of other West Virginias, attempted to get through on the statewide hotline. Ms. Gaddy estimates she spent more than a dozen hours calling or on hold while attempting to reach Workforce over a several week period. (*See* Ms. Gaddy's letter to the Board of Review [Appx 33-36])

Approximately a month later, April 19, 2021, the WorkForce Deputy requested a Fact Finding statement wherein Ms. Gaddy (an unrepresented, lay-claimant) reported that she "not having enough FMLA" to protect her job. [Appx 18]. She also cited lack of childcare as a contributing factor that had depleted her FMLA. [Appx 18]. It should be noted that Ms. Gaddy had still not been made aware of the requirement to produce a physician's note.

Ms. Gaddy grew increasingly desperate without income and continued to call the WorkForce hotline. On May 5th, she finally managed to reach a live person in the Summersville area. The worker informed her that there has been a decision made on April 30 which deemed her ineligible because she had voluntarily separated from work. The worker informed her the decision was in the mail, though Ms. Gaddy had not yet received it. The worker also emailed Ms. Gaddy the decision. [Appx 5-7].

During this conversation with the WorkForce employee, Ms. Gaddy mentioned that her separation from work was medically related. In response, the WorkForce employee told her generally about the physician's note requirement. [See Ms. Gaddy's letter to the Board of Review [Appx 33-36]] The following day, March 6, 2023, Ms. Gaddy got a note from her physician, Dr. Cheema, which stated, "Ms. Christina Gaddy is under my care for her illness. She was stressed at work which contributed to her anxiety and panic attacks. Due to her severe anxiety she has left her position." [Appx 29]. This letter was submitted on May 7, 2021 with Ms. Gaddy's appeal of the Deputy Decision. [Appx 5-7].

Coincidentally, the Deputy's decision would arrive in the mail the following day, May 8, 2021. Importantly, this decision contained the first written instruction that Ms. Gaddy was required to produce a physician's note within thirty days of separation – notwithstanding the notice was received well outside that thirty-day window. [Appx 14].

In anticipation of the ALJ hearing, Ms. Gaddy submitted several dozen pages of medical documentation to the Board of Review. The transcript of the Administrative Law Judge hearing clearly indicates the ALJ received and reviewed these documents – including the physician's note. [Appx 47; Transcript 11]. Several of these documents are referenced in the hearing. However, it does not appear they were officially added to the record during that hearing. [Appx47; Transcript 11].

The ALJ hearing was held on June 25th, 2021 before Administrative Law Judge Carl E. Hostler. During the hearing, American Public University's Human Resources officer testified regarding Ms. Gaddy's medical condition and efforts to look for another position that she could perform as a reasonable accommodation but found none available. [Appx 49; Transcript 17]. Ms. Gaddy testified that her separation from work was medically related, and that she only learned of the physician's note requirement after the 30-day deadline had run. [Appx 45-50; Transcript *generally*].

During the hearing, the ALJ clearly acknowledged Ms. Gaddy's valid medical reasons for separation from work:

I'm happy to accept this true [sic], the fact that you left your job for medical reasons. I don't doubt that in any way shape or form. I believe you completely...It's just I have to follow the rules to try to get your benefits. [Appx 50; Transcript 21]

It appears the ALJ would have approved Ms. Gaddy's claim if he was not bound (or believed himself to be bound) by the hard thirty-day deadline:

The statute itself said that it must be within 30 days. I don't know if I have any way of gettin' [sic] around that. Well, in fact, I don't think I do." [Appx 47; Transcript 12].

Ultimately, the ALJ upheld the Deputy's decision. In his decision, the ALJ found that Ms. Gaddy:

...was unable to continue work combination of her own health and lack of childcare for her children. She provided medical certification that her job worsened her health condition. Unfortunately, it was provided more than 30 days after her resignation. This Administrative Law Judge has no discretion to avoid the statutory requirement that says such certification must be provided to the employer within thirty days of leaving the job...Therefore, the claimant failed to meet her burden of proof that she had good cause due to health reasons to leave her employment. [Appx31].

Ms. Gaddy filed a *pro se* appeal to the Board of Review on September 10th, 2021 in a petition which clearly lays out the issues, including: that the 30 day deadline had been applied to her unfairly as she did not have any notice (despite considerable efforts) and a rebuttal of the notion her separation from work was solely related to childcare. [Appx 33-36]. The Board of Review, in a relatively perfunctory order, affirmed the Administrative Law Judge's decision. [Appx 60-61]. That was then appealed to the circuit court of Kanawha County.

Judge Tabit of the Kanawha County Circuit Court overturned the Board's decision on two grounds. First, the thirty-day deadline to produce the physician's note was deemed tolled due to excessive delays, the absence of legally required notice, lack of prejudice to other parties and Ms. Gaddy's diligent efforts to comply with the requirements. Additionally, Judge Tabit incorporated the substance of the factual findings from the administrative law judge expressing complete belief in Ms. Gaddy's valid medical separation from employment, and found that once the physician's note was considered timely, she unequivocally qualified for unemployment compensation. [Appx 91-100]. Notably, Workforce was made a party to this appeal and was served with all relevant pleadings, but did not participate in this appeal.

WorkForce then appealed that decision to the West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals, who reversed citing deference to the ALJ's decision, finding that equitable tolling was not an appropriate remedy and citing potential issue with the adequacy of the physician's note. [Appx 155-160].

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Ms. Gaddy submits that this case may be appropriate for oral argument under Rule 20. The case involves dispositive issues which have not been authoritatively decided. The case involves issues concerning fundamental public importance and inconsistencies among the decisions of lower tribunals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ms. Gaddy raises four key points of contention in this appeal.

First, the ICA's assertion that our administrative hearing officer had inherent equitable powers to toll the deadline in the administrative hearing is erroneous. This assumption led to unwarranted deference to the ALJ's non-decision to exercise such power, despite the ALJ's own belief that he lacked the authority to exercise equitable remedies. The appellant argues that administrative agencies, lacking general common law powers, cannot extend remedies like equitable tolling.

Second, the ICA erred in replacing the substance of the ALJ's findings with the naked legal conclusions of the ALJ, disregarding the broader context of the case. The appellant asserts that the ICA misunderstood Ms. Gaddy's separation from work, neglecting the ALJ's determination of a valid medical quit. This argument contends that the ICA's judgment

contradicts the circuit court's nuanced consideration of the ALJ's fact-finding, particularly after the application of equitable tolling.

Third, ICA's ruling was incorrect in finding equitable tolling was not appropriate in this case. The ICA's decision overlooks the exceptional circumstances during a global health pandemic, where Ms. Gaddy faced challenges in accessing information and the agency failed to provide timely notice. Unemployment compensation statutes, designed to be remedial and serve the public good, are well-suited for equitable remedies, making the rejection of equitable tolling in this case an error.

Lastly, the Appellant argues that the ICA should have applied 'plain error' doctrine to analyze the issues raised by WorkForce West Virginia. This stems from WorkForce's failure to participate or raise any concerns before the lower tribunal, the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. The Appellant maintains that the plain error doctrine, reserved exclusively for egregious circumstances, should have been invoked given WorkForce's absence in the circuit court proceedings, highlighting the need for fairness, integrity, and the public interest in the judicial process.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The standard of review used by this Court on a question of fact resolved by an ALJ is necessarily one of deference. We have consistently held that [a] reviewing court cannot assess witness credibility through a record. The trier of fact is uniquely situated to make such determinations and this Court is not in a position to, and will not, second guess such determinations." "Further, the ALJ's credibility determinations are binding unless patently without basis in the record." (internal citations omitted) *Alcan Rolled Products Ravenswood*, *LLC*, v. McCarthy, 234 W.Va. 312; 765 S.E.2d 201 (W. Va. 2014).

"In addition to affording deference to the ALJ on credibility determinations, a reviewing court is not permitted to decide the factual issues de novo or to reverse an ALJ's decision simply because it would have weighed the evidence differently. As we explained in *Wirt*, in applying the clearly erroneous standard to the findings of a [lower tribunal] sitting without a jury, appellate courts must constantly have in mind that their function is not to decide factual issues de novo. Indeed, if the lower 10 tribunal's conclusion is plausible when viewing the evidence in its entirety, the appellate court may not reverse even if it would have weighed the evidence differently if it had been the trier of fact." *Board of Education of the County of Mercer v. Wirt*, 192 W. Va. 538, at 578-579; 453 S.E.2d 402 (W. Va. 1994); *Alcan Rolled Products***Ravenswood, LLC, v. McCarthy, 234 W.Va. 312; 765 S.E.2d 201 (W. Va. 2014).

"This Court has also acknowledged that the "legal conclusion that [an employee] quit her job "voluntarily without good cause involving fault on the part of the employer" within the meaning of West Virginia Code §21A-6-3(1) is subject to a de novo standard of review." *Verizon Services Corp. v. Epling*, 230 W.Va. 439, 739 S.E.2d 290 (2013), (per curiam); quoting, *May v. Chair and Members*; Bd. of Review, 222 W.Va.373, 376, 664 S.E.2d 714, 718 (2008) (per curiam). See also West Virginia Code §21A-7-21 which states in its entirety, "[i]n a judicial proceeding to review a decision of the board, the findings of fact of the board shall have like weight to that accorded to the findings of fact of a trial chancellor or judge in equity procedure."

ARGUMENT

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR ONE: The Intermediate Court's decision commits an initial error in suggesting that administrative hearing officers possess equitable powers, and then affording misplaced deference based on that error.

The ICA's decision heavily relies on a flawed premise: "[a]dministrative boards are quasi-judicial and have the ability to apply equitable remedies in certain cases." This assumption permeates the decision and contributes to subsequent errors. The ICA suggests that the ALJ had

the authority to provide Ms. Gaddy with an equitable remedy during the administrative hearing, and the ALJ's deliberate choice not to use that power is then given significant deference by the ICA. The result subverts both the correct legal analysis and objective factual determinations made by our ALJ.

First, even if the ICA is correct that the ALJ had the power to afford an equitable remedy, it is evident that the ALJ did not *believe* he possessed that authority when he rendered his decision. The ALJ wrote he had, "no discretion to avoid the statutory requirement that says such certification must be provided to the employer within thirty days". Therefore, even if the ICA's interpretation is accurate, a legal error nonetheless occurred as the ALJ failed to exercise a power he deemed appropriate due to a mistaken belief that he lacked such authority.

While we agree that administrative decisions are often *subject* to equitable remedies, we dispute that the WorkForce Administrative Law Judge himself possessed the power to afford such a remedy. The ICA decision cites *Walter v. Ritchie, Comm'r*, 156 W. Va. 98 (1972) and *Hudkins v. Pub. Retirement Bd.*, 220 W. Va. 275 (2007) (among others) in support of its position, though none of the cited cases involve application of common law or equitable remedies *by* an administrative hearing officer; all the cases involve application of equitable remedies *to* a decision of an administrative hearing officer by an appellate court. And that's precisely what happened in this case before the ICA erroneously reversed the circuit court.

Fundamentally, the ICA is incorrect that administrative agencies (and hearing officers appointed by those agencies) have powers to extend common law remedies like equitable tolling in an administrative setting. Administrative agencies have no general or common law powers and may only act within the scope of the authority conferred on them. *State Human Rights*Commission v. Pauley, 158 W.Va. 495, 212 S.E.2d 77 (1975). An agency's power, therefore,

must be found statutorily either expressly or by implication. Walter v. Ritchie, 156 W. Va. 98, 191 S.E.2d 275 (1972); Mountaineer Disposal Serv. Inc. v. Dyer, 156 W. Va. 766, 197 S.E.2d 111 (1973); W. Va. Public Employees Ins. Bd. v. Blue Cross Hosp. Service. Inc., 174 W.Va. 605, 328 S.E.2d 356 (1985).

In this particular instance, the legislature specified that a claimant must submit a physician's note within a thirty-day timeframe to be eligible for a medical quit in the unemployment system. There is no exception in the statute for late production (e.g. good cause). The statute does not explicitly mention specific powers (equitable or otherwise) afforded to the agency to alter this deadline, nor is such a power suggested in a general sense.

While West Virginia Code §21A-4-9 grants WorkForce, "such additional powers as may be necessary for the proper conduct of a system of administrative review of disputed claims," this limited delegation is unlikely to encompass broad equitable powers. More importantly, WorkForce has not claimed such power(s) - specifically or generally - through the administrative rulemaking process.

In West Virginia, our circuit courts explicitly hold common law powers and jurisdiction to adjudicate cases in both equity and law, as outlined in West Virginia Code § 51-2-2 and Rule 1 of The West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. These statutory and procedural provisions distinctly empower the circuit courts, allowing them to navigate and decide cases across both legal and equitable domains when extraordinary instances arise.

Accordingly, our ALJ correctly acknowledged that he was obligated by this explicit 30-day requirement. Our circuit court corrected the injustice that would have continued but for the appropriate equitable relief. In reversing that decision, the ICA ignored the substance of the

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