BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Mar 22 2024

04:52PM EDT

Transaction ID 72588694

CHRISTINA GADDY,

PETITIONER (Respondent Below),

v. No. 23-658

No. 22-ICA-110

WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA,

RESPONDENT (Petitioner Below),

&

AMERICAN PUBLIC UNIVERSITY SYSTEM, Inc.,

RESPONDENT (Employer Below),

&

WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA BOARD OF REVIEW,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF FILED ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENTS WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA AND WORKFORCE WEST VIRGINIA BOARD OF REVIEW

Kimberly A. Levy, Attorney III WorkForce West Virginia Bldg. 3, Suite 300 1900 Kanawha Blvd. East Charleston, WV 25305 304.558.3403

WV State Bar I.D. No: 4603

Kimberly.Levy@wv.gov

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

of the decision in <u>Ohio Valley</u>, <u>Id.</u>, and is insufficient to warrant an award of unemployment compensation benefits.

Prior to 1988, the West Virginia Legislature had not recognized an exception to disqualification for voluntarily resigning from employment for health reasons. However, the Supreme Court of Appeals had recognized such an exception in the decisions in Gibson v. Rutledge, 171 W. Va. 164, 298 S.E.2d 173 (1982), and McDonald v. Rutledge, 174 W. Va. 649, 328 S.E.2d 524 (1985). In 1988, W. Va. Code §21A-6-3(1) (2020) was amended by the enactment of the following language:

Further, for the purpose of this subdivision, an individual shall not be deemed to have left his most recent work voluntarily without good cause involving fault on the part of the employer, if such individual was compelled to leave his work for his own health-related reasons and presents certification from a licensed physician that his work aggravated, worsened, or will worsen the individual's health problem.

In 2009, the West Virginia Legislature amended <u>W. Va. Code</u> §21A-6-3(1) (2020) again by explicitly adding two requirements of notifying the employer prior to leaving the job or within two business days after leaving the job and the presentation of written certification from a licensed physician within thirty days of leaving the job:

Further, for the purpose of this subdivision, an individual shall not be deemed to have left his or her most recent work voluntarily without good cause involving fault on the part of the employer, if such individual was compelled to leave his or her work for his or her own health-related reasons and notifies the employer prior to leaving the job or within two business days after leaving the job or as soon as practicable and presents written certification from a licensed physician within thirty days of leaving the job that his or her work aggravated, worsened, or will worsen the individual's health problem.

"A cardinal rule of statutory construction is that significance and effect must, if possible, be given to every section, clause, word or part of the statute." Syl. Pt. 3, Meadows v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 207 W.Va. 203, 530 S.E.2d 676 (1999), Young v. Apogee Coal Co., 232 W.Va. 554, 753 S.E.2d 52 (W. Va. 2013)

It is clear that the intent of the legislature was to place restrictions or limitations on the health-related exception to the general rule that voluntary separation from employment disqualifies a claimant from receipt of unemployment compensation benefits. Those conditions require timely notice of the health-related condition to the employer and timely provision of a statement from a physician to WorkForce West Virginia that the health-related problem was aggravated, worsened, or would continue to worsen from the claimant's employment.

Further, exceptions to general rules are normally narrowly construed. The United States Supreme Court has made clear that statutory exceptions generally should be narrowly construed. In Comm'r of Internal Revenue v. Clark, 489 U.S. 726, 739, 109 S.Ct. 1455, 103 L.Ed.2d 753 (1989), the Court referenced its "standard approach of construing a statutory exception narrowly to preserve the primary operation of the general rule," Clark, 489 U.S. at 727, and noted that "[i]n construing provisions ... in which a general statement of policy is qualified by an exception, we usually read the exception narrowly in order to preserve the primary operation of the provision." *id.* at 739 (citing A. H. Phillips, Inc. v. Walling, 324 U.S. 490, 493, 65 S.Ct. 807, 808, 89 L.Ed. 1095 (1945)).

The Petitioner has failed to meet the requirements of the statute to avail herself of the "health conditions" exception to the general rule that a claimant is not entitled to

unemployment compensation benefits if the employee voluntarily leaves his or her employment. First, the Petitioner did not provide the required notice prior to or within the two days of leaving her job. Jessica McIntosh, a Human Resources generalist with the Employer, testified that she did not recall seeing a health certification that stated the Petitioner's health had been aggravated or worsened by the Petitioner's employment with the Employer.³⁸

Secondly, she did not provide "written certification from a licensed physician within 30 days of leaving the job that his or her work aggravated, worsened, or will worsen the individual's health problem." The Petitioner resigned from her employment on March 21, 2021, and did not submit the letter from Dr. Cheema until May 6, 2021, at the earliest, which is more than 30 days from her resignation. Failing to meet both of those requirements is fatal to Petitioner's claim.

 The circuit court erred in applying the doctrine of equitable tolling to permit the Petitioner to receive unemployment compensation benefits.

The Respondents contend the circuit court erred in applying the doctrine of equitable tolling in the instant appeal for two reasons, i.e., the doctrine is not applicable to the issue in this case and the Petitioner did not meet the requirements for application of the doctrine of equitable tolling and the doctrine of equitable tolling may not be applied to an exception to the general rule that a claimant is disqualified for unemployment compensation benefits if he or she voluntarily leaves his or her employment without good cause involving fault on the part of the employer.

28

³⁸ Appx. 45 - 50; pp. 17 -18

The circuit court contended that the doctrine of equitable tolling could be applied to this situation, citing the decision in, <u>Independent Fire Co. No. 1 v. West Virginia</u>

Human Rights Com'n, 376 S.E.2d 612, 180 W.Va. 406 (1988). The circuit court held that the only limitation on the doctrine of equitable tolling related to filing deadlines that were jurisdictional in nature. Further, the Court held that the 30-day time period for filing medical certification was not jurisdictional in nature and therefore not exempt from application of the doctrine of equitable tolling.

The Respondents contend that the circuit court erred in finding the 30-day time limit for filing medical certification was subject to the doctrine of equitable tolling.

The Petitioner notes the holding that "[u]nemployment compensation statutes, being remedial in nature, should be liberally construed to achieve the benign purposes intended to the full extent hereof." Lee-Norse Co. v. Rutledge, 170 W. Va. 162, 291 S.E.2d 477 (1982), citing, Davis v. Hix, 140 W. Va. 398, 84 S.E.2d 404 (1954). The Respondents contend that this holding must be considered in light of subsequent holdings of this Court. It is initially important to consider the purpose of the unemployment compensation program which is "an insurance program, and not an entitlement program, and is designed to provide "a measure of security to the families of unemployed persons" [citing W. Va. Code §21A-1-1(1) (1978)] who become involuntarily unemployed through no fault of their own. "The [Act] is not intended, however, to apply to those who 'willfully contributed to the cause of their own unemployment." See Hill v. Board of Review. 166 W.Va. 648, 651, 276 S.E.2d 805, 807 (1981); (quoting Board of Review v. Hix, 126 W.Va. 538, 541, 29 S.E.2d 618, 619 (1944)). From our review of the Act, we believe the obligation of employees under the Act is to do whatever is

reasonable and necessary to remain employed" <u>Childress v. Muzzle</u>, 222 W.Va. 129, 663 S.E.2d 583, 587 (2008). It is critically important to remember that the remedial nature of unemployment compensation statutes applies to only those former employees who have involuntarily lost employment, not to those former employees who have voluntarily separated from employment "without good cause involving fault on the part of the employer".³⁹

The Petitioner contends that equitable tolling should be applied to excuse her untimely filing of her written certification. Two elements that must be met before equitable tolling can be applied are "the plaintiff's excusable ignorance of the limitations period and on lack of prejudice to the defendant…". Independent Fire Company No. 1 v. West Virginia Human Rights Com'n, 180 W.Va. 406, 376 S.E.2d 602 (1988).

Excusable ignorance

The Petitioner relies, in part, on <u>W. Va. Code</u> §21A-7-2 (1936) to support her allegation that her lack of knowledge is due to the Respondent WorkForce's alleged failure to comply with the requirements of this statute. Respondents point out that this statute was enacted in 1936, and has not been amended since its enactment. WorkForce West Virginia, like many public and private entities, has transitioned away from face-to-face interaction in every instance, such as going to the local office for the purpose of filing an unemployment compensation claim on paper and providing or mailing paper copies of information to providing information through its website and the filing of unemployment compensation claims through its website. At no time did the Petitioner ever testify that she had accessed and read the information provided on

³⁹ <u>W. Va. Code</u> §21A-6-3(1) (2020)

Respondent WorkForce's website as every claimant was directed to do as a condition of filing an unemployment compensation claim prior to her receipt of the deputy's decision.

The Petitioner also contends that she had communicated that her <u>Family & Medical Leave Act of 1993</u>, 29 U.S.C. §2601, <u>et seq.</u>, (2010) (FMLA) leave was exhausted to Respondent WorkForce's staff. However, FMLA leave can also be used for reasons other than one's own physical/psychological illnesses such as to care for a family member or for the adoption or birth of a child. WorkForce staff would not have inquired as to the reasons why the Petitioner was using FMLA leave due to privacy concerns. Likewise, there is no testimony from the Petitioner in the record regarding the phone calls allegedly made by the Petitioner to WorkForce or testimony regarding the unemployment compensation poster.

The first indication to the Respondents that the Petitioner's separation from employment was due to health issues rather than childcare concerns occurred on May 6, 2021, with the letter of Dr. Cheema. It is unclear when Respondent received this letter and it appears the Employer was not made aware of it until the hearing before the administrative law judge on June 25, 2021.⁴⁰

Lack of prejudice to the defendant

The circuit court erred in determining that Respondent WorkForce West Virginia had not been prejudiced as Dr. Cheema's letter was available for review by the administrative law judge. There were no factual findings by the court on the element of prejudice to the Respondent WorkForce West Virginia or to the Employer in Petitioner's unemployment compensation claim. However, if the circuit court's decision is

31

⁴⁰ Appx. 45 - 50; pp. 17 - 18.

reinstated, the Employer will be subject to charging of 100% of the benefit cost as the sole base period employer in this claim and its contribution rate may be negatively affected by the benefits charged against its experience rating account pursuant to W. Va. Code §21A-5-7(2) & (3) (2012). WorkForce West Virginia is also prejudiced if the state Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund must pay benefits to the Petitioner and similarly affected claimants who had been properly denied unemployment benefits. This does not include the impact from other claimants who would voluntarily leave work in the future due to alleged poor health allegedly worsened by their employment and subsequently file an unemployment compensation claim.

Respondents also contend that equitable tolling is not an appropriate remedy in this case. In Adkins v. Clark, 247 W. Va. 128, 875 S.E.2d 266, 271 (2022), this Court cited, "We have repeatedly found that "statutes of limitations are favored in the law and cannot be avoided unless the party seeking to do so brings himself strictly within some exception. It has been widely held that such exceptions are "strictly construed and are not enlarged by the courts upon consideration of apparent hardship." Adkins, *id*, citing, Humble Oil & Refining Co., v. Lane, 152 W. Va. 578, 583, 165 S.E.2d 379, 383 (1969).

In <u>Perdue v. Hess</u>, 199 W. Va. 299, 484 S.E.2d 182 (1997), Syl. Pt. 3 states: "Exceptions in statutes of limitation are strictly construed and the enumeration by the Legislature of specific exceptions by implication excludes all others." (citation omitted). In this instance, the West Virginia Legislature amended W. Va. Code §21A-6-3(1) in 2009 in order to add the requirements that a claimant notify his or her employer either prior to leaving employment or no later than two business days after leaving employment for his or her health-related reasons and providing written medical

certification from a licensed physician within 30 days of leaving the job that his or her work aggravated, worsened, or will worsen the individual's health problem. Allowing the doctrine of equitable tolling to enlarge the time-frame for the submission of this information removes, in essence, the meaning and requirement of this statute and voids the Legislature's intent in amending this statute.

• The Respondents contend that the Petitioner's assertion of plain error based solely on Respondents' failure to participate in the appeal before the Circuit Court of Kanawha County is erroneous.

The Respondents contend that the Petitioner's assertion of plain error based solely on Respondents' failure to participate in the appeal before the Circuit Court of Kanawha County is erroneous. The Petitioner appears to assert that the decisions of the administrative law judge, the Board of Review, and the Intermediate Court of Appeals should be reversed on this basis alone and/or that Respondent WorkForce West Virginia should not have been permitted to file an appeal. First of all, the Petitioner should have made this contention when this case was before the Intermediate Court of Appeals by filing a motion to dismiss WorkForce West Virginia's Notice of Appeal or by asserting this issue as an error for the Intermediate Court of Appeals to decide. The Petitioner did neither. As a result, the Petitioner cannot now raise this issue before this Court on the grounds of the "raise or waive" doctrine. In State v. Gray, No. 22-0082 (W. Va. Jun 15, 2023) (memorandum decision), in which this Court stated:

"One of the most familiar procedural rubrics in the administration of justice is the rule that the failure of a litigant to assert a right in the trial court likely will result in the imposition of a procedural bar to an appeal of that issue.') (citation omitted))."

However, as Petitioner observes, the fact that the current case arose during the introduction of the Intermediate Court of Appeals into West Virginia judicial structure makes this case somewhat unusual. Nevertheless, the "raise or waive" rule should apply to it. As explained by this Court in Hoover v. West Virginia Bd. of Medicine, 216 W. Va. 23, 602 S.E.2d 466 (2004):

Our general rule is that nonjurisdictional questions ... raised for the first time on appeal, will not be considered." Shaffer v. Acme Limestone Co., Inc., 206 W.Va. 333, 349 n. 20, 524 S.E.2d 688, 704 n. 20 (1999).

In the present case, the first and appropriate forum for Petitioner to raise the question of whether Respondent could appeal to the Intermediate Court of Appeals was, in fact, the Intermediate Court of Appeals. The fact that the Petitioner did not move to dismiss the appeal before the Intermediate Court of Appeals prevents her from raising it before this Court.

Although Petitioner did not file a motion to dismiss Respondent's appeal to the Intermediate Court of Appeals, she did mention the doctrine of "plain error" in her brief. However, this reference was cursory, i.e., one sentence in the Summary of Argument and several paragraphs at pages 21 and 22 of the Petitioner's brief submitted to the Intermediate Court of Appeals. Petitioner limited herself to asserting that the "plain error" doctrine prohibited the consideration of any but the most egregious errors and that consideration of the issues upon which Respondent based its appeal would "severely affect the fairness and public repudiation of judicial proceedings". There is little or no analysis and it is unsurprising that the Intermediate Court of Appeals did not feel called upon to address the "argument" in its final order.

Respondents are clearly parties to this litigation. Respondents direct the Court's attention to W. Va. Code 21A-7-17 (1967) which states, in pertinent part, "[p]arties to the proceedings before the board shall be made defendants in such appeal; and the commissioner shall be a necessary party to such judicial review" when a party filed an appeal of a decision from the WorkForce West Virginia Board of Review to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County.

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